
 

 

 
Portfolio Holder Decisions/Leader 

Decisions 

 
Date:  Friday, 31 July 2020 
Time:  12.00 pm 
Venue:  Microsoft Teams 

 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Izzi Seccombe 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
 

1.   Delegation of Coronavirus Powers - Leader Decision 
 

3 - 20 

2.   Devolution and Local Recovery White Paper 
 

21 - 24 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 



 

Portfolio Holder 
Decisions/Leader Decisions 
Friday, 31 July 2020 

Page 2 
  

 

 
To download papers for this meeting scan here with your camera  

 
 
 
 
 
Disclaimers 
 
 

Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of 
their election of appointment to the Council. A member attending a meeting where a matter 
arises in which s/he has a disclosable pecuniary interest must (unless s/he has a 
dispensation):  
 
• Declare the interest if s/he has not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Must leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with  
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting  
 
Non-pecuniary interests must still be declared in accordance with the Code of Conduct. 
These should be declared at the commencement of the meeting 
The public reports referred to are available on the Warwickshire Web  
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1 
 

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

Proposed Decision to be made by the 
Leader of the Council on or after  

31 July 2020 
 

Delegation of Coronavirus Powers 
 
Portfolio Holder Leader of the Council 

Date of decision     31 July 2020 
 
Signed 
 

 
 

 
Decision taken 
 
The Leader is recommended to: 
 
(1)  delegate the functions of the County Council under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 

Restrictions) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2020 (other than any power to prosecute) to the 
Strategic Director for Communities and his/her nominees and add those functions to 
paragraph 4 of the entries relating to Trading Standards in Part 2 Section 10 of the 
Constitution  

 
(2)  delegate the functions of the County Council under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 

Restrictions) (No. 3) (England) Regulations 2020 (other than any power to prosecute) to the 
Chief Executive and his/her nominees and to add those functions to Section 10.2 in Part 2 of 
the Constitution; 

 
(4)  confirm (for the avoidance of doubt) that the named officers are authorised to exercise the 

specified functions of the County Council under the relevant Regulations and any future 
modification or re-enactment thereof and to do so on behalf of the County Council whether in 
its capacity as a person designated by the Secretary of State or as a local authority within the 
meaning of the Regulations; 

 
(5)  approve the amendment of paragraph 5 of the entries relating to Rights of Way and Traffic 

Regulation in Section 10.5 in Part 2 of the Constitution to make explicit the delegation of the 
power to make temporary traffic orders. 

 
 

Page 3

Page 1 of 6 Agenda Item 1



 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
This report proposes that powers recently conferred on local authorities to control access to 
premises and outdoor places and restrict events be delegated to the Chief Executive so that they 
can be used promptly in the event of a local outbreak of Coronavirus, and also that updates and 
clarifications be made to existing delegated powers to close business premises and make 
temporary traffic orders in order to protect people against Coronavirus infection. 
 
 
Background information 
 
1.0  Introduction 
 
1.1  Local authorities have largely relied on existing powers to protect the public against 

Coronavirus and enable the recovery from lockdown.  An example of this is the use of 
temporary traffic orders, which can be made quickly without any objection procedure to 
prevent a danger to the public, in order to facilitate social distancing in town centres as non-
essential businesses are allowed to re-open.  The Government has also legislated to give 
special temporary powers to local authorities to take measures to control the spread of 
Coronavirus.  An early example of this were the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) 
(England) Regulations 2020 which enabled first and second tier authorities to take “such 
action as is necessary” to enforce any requirement imposed by the Regulations in relation to 
the closure of business premises, including powers for designated officers to issue prohibition 
notices and fixed penalty notices to business owners and managers. 

 
1.2  Powers to make traffic orders have long been delegated to officers and the functions of the 

County Council under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) 
Regulations 2020 were delegated by the Leader on 31 March 2020 so that their requirements 
could be enforced by designated trading standards officers. 

 
1.3  From 4 July 2020, the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 

2020 were replaced by the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2020.  So far as the County Council was concerned, these Regulations 
substantially reproduced its functions under the original Regulations. 

 
1.4  On 18 July 2020, the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) 

Regulations 2020 took effect.  Their intention was to give relevant bodies a sufficient package 
of powers to deal with Coronavirus outbreaks like those recently experienced across a wide 
area in and around Leicester or on an individual farm in Worcestershire.  These powers 
potentially entail significant restrictions upon civil and economic liberties which would need to 
be clearly justified by public health considerations.  

 
2.0  Temporary Traffic Orders 
 
2.1  A number of road traffic orders have been made in order to create more space for 

pedestrians and cyclists in town centres as businesses re-open after lockdown.  This had to 
be done at short notice following the Government announcement that relaxations would begin 
in early July.  Temporary traffic orders can be made by notice without a procedure for 
advertisement and objections where that is required to protect the public from danger (other 
examples are a damaged bridge or emergency works in the road) and this kind of order was 
used on the basis that rapid action was needed to protect the public from infection.  Such 
orders can last up to 21 days or 18 months.  Temporary orders are made under an existing 
general delegated power but it is proposed to clarify that power to make it explicit that it 

Page 4

Page 2 of 6



 
includes not only cases where no objections have been made but also cases where there is 
no procedure for making objections.  This would be done by adding the words “To make 
temporary road traffic orders and” at the beginning of the existing delegation.  

 
3.0  Closure of Business Premises 
 
3.1  Regulations were made in late March requiring (in addition to the “stay at home” rules) that 

most businesses open to the public should be closed.  These were the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020 and they provided for closure to be 
enforced by the Police and by local authorities and their designated officers.  The 
enforcement powers included a broad power to take “such action as is necessary” and 
specific powers to issue prohibition notices and fixed penalty notices to any person carrying 
on a business in contravention of the closure requirements.  Prosecution is possible in more 
serious cases.  The enforcement powers were delegated both to districts and boroughs 
(whose environmental health officers traditionally enforce public health requirements) and to 
the County Council (in the expectation that trading standards departments would work 
alongside the Police and the other local authorities).   

 
3.2  The enforcement powers by their nature require to be used rapidly if they need to be used.  

The Leader made an urgent decision on 31 March delegating the powers to the Strategic 
Director for Communities and designating a list of trading standards officers.  Powers to bring 
legal proceedings are already delegated generally to the Strategic Director for Resources and 
the Assistant Director of Governance and Policy.  It has not so far proven necessary for the 
County Council to issue any notices under the Regulations.   

 
3.3  The Regulations were rapidly amended four times and on 4 July were revoked entirely and 

replaced by the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No 2) Regulations 
2020.  These Regulations substantially reproduce the original enforcement powers.  Although 
restrictions on opening businesses have been considerably relaxed, a number are still 
required to remain closed such as nightclubs and indoor swimming pools. 

 
3.4  It is proposed that the opportunity be taken to update the delegation made in March and 

include in it the power for the Strategic Director for Communities to designate and 
undesignate officers in future.  The Secretary of State is under a duty to keep the restrictions 
in the Regulations under review and end them once the emergency no longer justifies them.  
Therefore, there is a built in mechanism to ensure that the powers and the delegation of them 
remains proportionate and necessary.  

  
 
4.0  Local Outbreaks 
 
4.1  When the outbreak occurred in Leicester, regulations were made specifically for the Leicester 

area to reintroduce lockdown.  These essentially restored the lockdown restrictions as they 
had stood in March but with adaptations.  However, on 18 July 2020, the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 2020 introduced new and wider 
powers for local authorities across the country.  Unlike earlier Regulations, these give 
enforcement powers in two tier areas to county councils and not districts and boroughs. 

 
4.2  The new Regulations empower the County Council to give directions imposing prohibitions, 

requirements or restrictions in relation to: 
 

• the entry into, departure from, or location of persons in, specified premises  
• the holding of a specified event or type of event 
• access to any public outdoor place. 

Page 5

Page 3 of 6



 
 
4.3  These are very wide powers.  Premises and events are not defined, and so have their 

ordinary unrestricted meaning, except that essential infrastructure and public transport 
vehicles are excluded from the definition of premises.  Premises can be closed or restricted 
whether or not they are business premises, although a direction must specify individual 
premises and cannot target whole classes of premises.  A public outdoor place means any 
outdoor place to which the public have or are permitted access, whether on payment or 
otherwise, and this would include (for example) areas such as highways and parks.  
However, a direction cannot be made in respect of an outdoor place which is Crown land 
without the agreement of the authority responsible for that land.  

 
4.4  These powers can only be exercised if the County Council considers that the following 

conditions are met: 
 

(a)  that giving such a direction responds to a serious and imminent threat to public health; 
 
(b)  that the direction is necessary for the purpose of preventing, protecting against, 

controlling or providing a public health response to the incidence or spread of infection by 
Coronavirus in the local authority's area; and 

 
(c)  that the prohibitions, requirements or restrictions imposed by the direction are a 

proportionate means of achieving that purpose. 
 
4.5  When these powers are exercised, the County Council must notify its districts and boroughs 

and any adjacent local authority and the adjacent authorities must then consider whether to 
exercise their own powers under the Regulations.  Within Warwickshire, the County Council 
can also direct any of the district and borough councils to “exercise any of [their] functions in 
a specified way” if it considers that it is necessary and proportionate to do so in order to 
prevent, protect against, delay or otherwise control the incidence or spread of Coronavirus.  
These provisions are anticipated by the sub-regional partnerships that have already been 
developed to respond to an outbreak. 

 
4.6  The Police and designated officers of the County Council are given the power to “take such 

action as is necessary to enforce a direction” and to issue fixed penalty notices.  Designated 
County Council officers can also issue prohibition notices.  If a direction is made in relation to 
a public outdoor place, the County Council and the owner must take reasonable steps to 
prevent or restrict public access to it in accordance with the direction.  The Police are given 
additional powers to give on the spot directions to individuals at events and in public outdoor 
places which are the subject of a County Council direction and can use reasonable force to 
remove individuals from such an event or place.  Breach of directions, prohibition notices and 
reasonable instructions and obstruction of the Police or a designated County Council officer 
can be prosecuted and the County Council is authorised to bring such prosecutions along 
with the Crown Prosecution Service. 

4.7  Given the potentially far reaching impacts of these powers on the freedoms and livelihoods of 
citizens, any decision to make a direction or use enforcement powers would have to take into 
account the human rights of those affected and this is already written into our Constitution.  In 
addition, the Regulations include a number of procedural protections: 

• any direction must be reviewed at least once every seven days and terminated or 
modified if the three conditions in paragraph 4.4 above cease to be met 

• regard must be had to the advice of the Director of Public Health before making and 
when reviewing a direction 

• the Secretary of State must be notified of a direction and he or she has supervisory 

Page 6

Page 4 of 6



 
powers including the power to order that a direction be made or revoked 

• a person affected by a direction has a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court and the 
right to make representations to the Secretary of State 

• directions must be published generally as well as served on responsible individuals 

• there is a “reasonable excuse” defence to any prosecution. 
4.8 Because the powers and duties under the Regulations may have to be exercised at very short 

notice in any emergency, it is proposed that they be delegated in their entirety.  Given the 
range and importance of the powers, it is proposed that they be delegated to the Chief 
Executive (who would be required by law to act in consultation with the Director of Public 
Health in relation to directions).  The delegation includes the power to designate officers to 
use enforcement powers.  As previously mentioned, the power to bring any legal proceedings 
is already delegated to the Strategic Director for Resources and the Assistant Director of 
Governance and Policy.  The Regulations are time limited and come to an end on 17 January 
2021 (unless the Government and Parliament decide to extend them). 

4.9  Government guidance on the Regulations is appended to this report. 
 
5.0  Designations and Future-proofing 
5.1 In addition to naming county councils in the No 2 and No 3 Regulations as authorities 

empowered by them, the Secretary of State has issued a designation letter which designates 
them for the purpose of enforcing the Regulations.  The reason for this is not entirely clear 
but, to avoid any possibility of a technical challenge, the proposed delegations are expressed 
to be made on behalf of the County Council as a named body and as a designated body.  
The recommendations also make clear that the delegations apply to any replacement or 
modification of either set of Regulations.    

 
 
 
 
Financial implications 
6.1  It is currently envisaged that there will not be any significant financial implications arising from 

enforcement of the Regulations relating to the closure of business premises and that any 
minor financial implications can be managed within the Trading Standards Service revenue 
budget.  If the Government provide additional funding to the County Council for the 
enforcement of the Regulations then that funding can be provided to the Trading Standards 
Service if it is deemed appropriate. 

 
6.2  If a local outbreak requires the implementation of measures to restrict access to premises 

and outdoor places or to restrict events, the cost of making and reviewing the directions 
would be met from within existing resources but enforcement could potentially give rise to 
additional costs.  However, these additional costs are at this stage unpredictable.  Any 
significant and appropriate costs arising from the need to enforce Coronavirus measures, 
beyond existing budgets, will be set against any Government Covid-19 funding available in 
the first instance and met from general contingency and reserves where Government funding 
is insufficient to cover all costs. 

 
 
 
 
Environmental implications 
 

Page 7

Page 5 of 6



 
7.1  Delegating the functions with which this report is concerned has no environmental 

implications.  The exercise of powers might have such implications but, if material, these 
would be considered at the time of any exercise according to the circumstances of the case.  

 
 
 
 
 
Report Author Ian Marriott 
Assistant Director Sarah Duxbury 
Lead Director Rob Powell 
Lead Member Leader of the Council 
 
 
Urgent matter? No 

Confidential or exempt? No 

Is the decision contrary to the 
budget and policy 
framework? 

No 

 
 
List of background papers (If applicable)  
 
None 
 
 
 
Members and officers consulted and informed 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor Caborn 
 
Corporate Board – Nigel Minns 
 
Legal – Nichola Vine, Ann Belcher 
 
Finance – Andrew Felton 
 
Communities – Mark Ryder, Jonathan Toy 
 
Public Health – Shade Agboola 
 
Democratic Services – Paul Williams 

 

 

 

Page 8

Page 6 of 6



Appendix - Government Guidance on Coronavirus No 3 
Regulations 

 

This document supports the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No.3) 
Regulations 2020 (‘the Regulations’) that came into force on 18 July 2020. It provides 
guidance for local authorities in England on what the new regulations allow them to do and 
how they should exercise those powers, how those powers should be enforced, and 
guidance for those impacted by local authority directions. 

These powers may be exercised by upper tier local authorities in England. As set out in 
Regulation 1(4). This includes: 

• in 2-tier areas, county councils 
• in single tier areas, the unitary county or district council 
• London Borough Councils 
• the Common Council of the City of London 
• the Council of the Isles of Scilly 

Introduction 

On 18 July 2020, legislation to grant local authorities new powers to respond to a serious 
and imminent threat to public health and to prevent COVID-19 (“coronavirus”) transmission 
in a local authority’s area where this is necessary and proportionate to manage spread of the 
coronavirus in the local authority’s area will take effect. These regulations include powers for 
local authorities to: 

• restrict access to, or close, individual premises 
• prohibit certain events (or types of event) from taking place 
• restrict access to, or close, public outdoor places (or types of outdoor public places) 

following procedural requirements set out in the Regulations and covered below. 

This guidance provides clarity to local authorities on how to implement the Regulations and 
to support those impacted by any intervention made under them. 

To make a direction under these Regulations a local authority needs to be satisfied that the 
following 3 conditions are met: 

1. the direction responds to a serious and imminent threat to public health in the local 
authority’s area 

2. the direction is necessary to prevent, protect against, control or provide a public health 
response to the incidence or spread of infection in the local authority’s area of 
coronavirus 

Page 9

Page 1 of 12Page 1 of 12



3. the prohibitions, requirements or restrictions imposed by the direction are a proportionate 
means of achieving that purpose 

Before making a direction, local authorities will need to gather sufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that these tests have been met. This evidence may come from a range of 
sources, including information provided to the local authority from local experts, through the 
Local Resilience Forum, from NHS Test and Trace (including the Joint Biosecurity Centre 
(JBC)), from Public Health England (PHE) and from other sources. A local authority must 
consult with the director of public health, and assess whether the conditions for taking action 
have been met. It must have regard to any advice given to it prior to issuing a direction, or to 
revoke such a direction. 

A local authority should also consult the police prior to issuing a direction, and any 
neighbouring police forces if the direction prohibits, requires or restricts access to a premise, 
event or public outdoor place that is situated against a Local Resilience Forum boundary. 
Local authorities should be clear about why they are taking directive action and 
communicate this clearly to the Secretary of State, the person(s) to whom the direction 
applies and, where appropriate, those impacted by the direction. 

Regulation 3 also allows the Secretary of State to direct a local authority to issue a direction 
where the Secretary of State considers the conditions above have been met, and can also 
direct a local authority to revoke an existing direction (with or without a replacement 
direction) where the above conditions are no longer met. 

Any direction issued by a local authority under the Regulations will need to state the date 
and time on which the prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into effect, and the date 
and time on which it will end. This should include the basis on which the three conditions are 
met and why a specific prohibition, requirement or restriction is necessary. 

A local authority must review a direction it has issued under the Regulations at least every 
seven days and determine whether the three conditions for making the direction continue to 
be met. If at any stage the threshold for restrictions is no longer met (there is no longer a 
serious and imminent threat to public health, or the measures are not deemed to be 
necessary and proportionate to prevent or control the incidence or spread of infection in the 
local authority’s area), the direction should be immediately revoked or replaced with a 
direction which meets the threshold set out above. 

Prior to issuing a direction, local authorities must have due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and should consider 
carrying out an equalities impact assessment to determine whether the measure may 
disproportionately affect people with protected characteristics. Identifying disproportionate 
impact would not prohibit a local authority from taking action, but this should be balanced 
against the wider public health risk in a local authority’s area, and mitigations should be 
considered and implemented wherever possible. 

Those directly impacted by any direction under these Regulations, including the owner or 
occupier of premises or event organiser against whom a direction applies, will have the right 
of appeal to a local magistrate and may make representations to the Secretary of State. The 
direction issued must include details of the right to appeal to a magistrates’ court and the 
time within which such an appeal may be brought. Guidance on how to do this can be 
found below. 

Page 10

Page 2 of 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#appeal


Local authority powers 

Closure of individual premises 

Regulation 4 provides a power for local authorities to make directions about individual 
premises, for the purpose of: closing the premises, restricting entry to the premises, or 
securing restrictions in relation to the location of persons in the premises. The 3 conditions 
must still be met for making a direction: the direction responds to a serious and imminent 
threat to public health relating to coronavirus, and it is necessary and proportionate to 
provide a public health relating to coronavirus in the local authority’s area. A local authority 
has a duty to have regard to the need to ensure the public has access to essential public 
services and goods before issuing a direction. 

The Regulations prohibit the local authority to make directions in relation to premises which 
form part of essential infrastructure. This includes a range of infrastructure that provide 
essential public services and goods. It also includes vehicles, trains or aircraft used for 
public transport, or the carriage or haulage of goods, and a vessel where the direction would 
be likely to have the effect of preventing a changeover of crew. 

The following list details categories of essential infrastructure which may not be closed using 
these powers. However, the list is not exhaustive, and local authorities should use their 
discretion to consider whether premises could be considered essential local or national 
infrastructure before using the power. 

While public transport is included in the list of essential infrastructure, this doesn’t include 
taxis or private hire vehicles (see how public transport is defined in the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Wearing of Face Coverings on Public Transport) (England) Regulations 2020). 
In deciding whether to shut down transport services, local authorities should be mindful of 
their duty under the Education Act 1996 to facilitate home to school transport for eligible 
children. 

Examples of premises which would form part of essential infrastructure: 

• buildings owned or occupied by central or local government bodies, or part of the building 
owned or occupied by such bodies, including Parliament, to the extent that they are so 
occupied 

• border infrastructure – including border and inland facilities to support the checking of 
goods (border control points) 

• buildings that are occupied by agencies that are responsible for maintaining national 
security 

• premises from which a health care professional operates, as defined in regulation 8 of the 
Human Medicines Regulations 2012 

• premises of a registered childcare provider (as defined in paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 16 
of the Coronavirus Act 2020) 

• premises of an educational institution (as defined in paragraph 1(11) of schedule 16 of 
the Coronavirus Act 2020) 

• children’s homes within the meaning of section 1 of the Care Standards Act 2000 

Page 11

Page 3 of 12



• premises of a water undertaker, sewerage undertaker, water supply licensee or sewerage 
licensee, and any other facility, premises or setting which are used in connection with the 
provision of water supplies or sewerage services, such as for the management, 
treatment, testing and distribution of water, and management, treatment, testing and 
disposal of sewage. 

• premises owned or occupied by a risk management authority in connection with its flood 
and coastal erosion risk management functions (as defined in sections 4 to 6 of the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010) 

• any facility or setting which produces, manufactures, distributes or sells food other than 
food retailers smaller than 280sqm (in smaller towns and villages, local authorities should 
ensure the exercise of this power does not prevent residents from accessing core food 
supplies) 

• commercial energy generation, distribution or importation infrastructure, including with 
respect to electricity, gas, oil, other heat sources (for example, wood), petrol and 
recharging stations and similar fuel sources, and district and communal heating/electricity 

• nuclear sites, which have been granted a nuclear site licence as defined in section 1 of 
the Nuclear Installations Act 1965 

• sites or locations where command and control of a space launch vehicle or spacecraft for 
nominal operations, collision avoidance or anomalies are conducted, or where space 
situational awareness activities are conducted 

• commercial passenger and freight airports, and airfields used for emergency service 
operations 

• commercial ports or ports used for emergency service operations 
• sites or locations that support the safe and secure operation of ‘offshore installations’ as 

defined in section 44 of the Petroleum Act 1998, or ‘upstream petroleum infrastructure’ as 
defined in section 9H of the Petroleum Act 1998, or ‘wells’ as defined in section 45A(10) 
of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• premises connected with the provision of emergency services 
• waste facilities, including waste collections and management facilities used for the 

management, sorting, treatment, recovery, transport, storage, or disposal of waste 
(including energy from waste) 

• a facility used for the manufacture, distribution etc of medicine (including veterinary) and 
surgeries 

• a downstream oil facility that has a capacity in excess of 10 tonnes 
• a site or location operated by or on behalf of a postal operator, as defined in section 27(3) 

of the Postal Services Act 2011 
• a site or location involved in the continued production, supply, movement, manufacture, 

storage or preservation of goods, including ports and/or sites associated with the 
movement of freight 

• buildings used for the detention, management or supervision of offenders and the supply 
of equipment to enable such 

• data centres, information technology, cybersecurity centres and telecommunications 
facilities 

• all national, regional and local heavy rail – this includes the entire High Speed 1 rail link 
from the Channel Tunnel to St Pancras station, together with its maintenance facilities 
and train depots – and light rail networks, heavy rail and light rail stations, heavy rail and 
light rail maintenance depots and rail freight terminals and interchanges 

Page 12

Page 4 of 12



• the Channel Tunnel infrastructure system, consisting of the tunnel rail link, together with 
its associated terminal area, service and maintenance area, clearance depot and 
associated road and rail links with the wider UK transport network 

• Dollands Moor Freight Yard 

If local authorities are unsure whether a particular premises falls within the scope of the 
essential infrastructure exemption, they should direct queries to the relevant government 
department, or to NHS Test and Trace Regional Support and Assurance Teams. 

Notification of directions concerning premises 

A local authority must take reasonable steps to give advance notice of the direction to both: 

1. a person carrying on a business from the premises to which the direction relates 
2. any person who owns or occupies the premises, if different from 1. 

Notice of the direction should be issued by a local authority in the form of a written letter 
and/or email communication to the owner or occupier of the premises, clearly stating the 
powers under which the direction is being made, the reason for invoking, or revoking, the 
direction, the date and time on which the prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into 
effect, and the date and time on which it will end. Where the direction is made on the 
direction of the Secretary of State, that should be also be stated. 

The owner or occupier of premises specified in a direction under this regulation may appeal 
against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way of complaint, and/or make 
representations to the Secretary of State concerning the direction. The notification must also 
give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, and the time limit for appealing 
(see below). Where a direction is made, the owner or occupier of a premises must fulfil the 
requirement of the direction until the appeal is resolved. 

Restrictions on events 

Regulation 5 provides a power for local authorities to prohibit certain events (or types of 
event) from taking place, where it responds to a serious and imminent threat to public health 
relating to coronavirus and is necessary and proportionate to prevent or provide a public 
health response to the incidence or spread of infection in their area. 

Before making a direction, the local authority must be satisfied that a serious and imminent 
threat to health exists relating to coronavirus transmission and that the direction responses 
to that threat. This could, for example, be where a local authority is aware of a planned event 
at which the numbers of people expected to seek to use a space, or the nature of a 
particular event, would make it unsafe due to coronavirus transmission. 

The local authority must decide that the direction is necessary for the purpose of preventing, 
protecting against, controlling or providing a public health response to the incidence or 

Page 13

Page 5 of 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#appeal


spread of infection by coronavirus in the local authority’s area and the prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions imposed by the direction are a proportionate means of achieving 
that purpose. Any equality impacts and its Public Sector Equality Duty obligations should 
also be considered during the decision-making process In such instances, local authorities 
would be expected, at a minimum, to: 

• gather the relevant evidence, such as the location of the event, disease prevalence and 
transmission rates in the area, and the risks associated with the event, including for 
example, the anticipated level of attendance and the activities that are due to take place 

• consult neighbouring authorities of both tiers where relevant, (and the other tier in 2-tier 
authorities), concerning use of the power 

• engage with partners through the local Safety Advisory Group and Local Resilience 
Forum to ensure emergency services are aware of proposals and manage risk, including 
the risk that people may travel to other local spaces 

A direction under this regulation may only have the effect of imposing prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions on: 

• the owner or occupier of premises for an event to which the direction relates 
• the organiser of such an event 
• any other person involved in holding such an event. This does not include people 

planning to attend the event, with no involvement in its organisation – these individuals 
could not commit an offence as a result of such a direction being made 

A local authority must take reasonable steps to give advance notice of any direction it issues 
to both: 

1. the organiser of the event 
2. any person who owns or occupies the premises for the event, if different from 1. 

Notification of directions concerning events 

Notice of the direction should be issued by a local authority in the form of a written letter 
and/or email communication to the organiser of the event and/ or the owner or occupier of 
the premises where the event is being held, or any other person involved in holding such an 
event, clearly stating the powers under which the direction is being made, the reason for 
invoking, or revoking, the direction, the date and time on which the prohibition, requirement 
or restriction comes into effect, and the date and time on which they will end. 

Where the direction is made on the direction of the Secretary of State, that should be also be 
stated. The notification must also give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, 
provide an address for service of any summons (including the Secretary of State where it is 
based on his direction) and the time limit for appealing (see below). 

The organiser of an event and/ or the owner or occupier of the premises specified in a 
direction under Regulation 5 may appeal against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way 
of complaint, and/ or make representations to the Secretary of State about the direction. 

Page 14

Page 6 of 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#appeal


Where a direction is made, the event organiser and/ or owner or occupier of a premises 
must fulfil the requirement of the direction until the appeal is resolved. 

Guidance on the closure of a public outdoor place 

Regulation 6 provides a power for local authorities to direct the closure of, or restrict access 
to, a public outdoor place (or public outdoor places of a specified description), where it 
responds to a serious and imminent threat to public health relating to coronavirus and is 
necessary and proportionate to prevent or provide a public health response to the incidence 
or spread of infection in their area. 

The regulations will require the local authority to consider that a serious and imminent threat 
to health exists relating to COVID-19 transmission. This could be where they are aware of a 
planned event, or where past experience indicates a high risk that the numbers of people 
expected to seek to use a space would make it unsafe, including for example a popular 
beach or an enclosed square in a metropolis. 

In such instances, local authorities would be expected, at a minimum, to: 

• gather the relevant evidence, such as geographical boundary of the space, disease 
prevalence and transmission rates, and evidence relating to the risk attached 

• consult neighbouring authorities of both tiers where relevant (and the other tier in two tier 
authorities), and about proposals to exercise the power 

• engage with partners through the Local Resilience Forum to ensure emergency services 
are aware of proposals and manage risk, including the risk that people may travel to other 
local spaces 

Where a local authority is considering making a direction under Regulation 6 that would 
close, or otherwise impact upon, any part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) or the 
Transport for London Road Network (TLRN), the local authority should consult with 
Highways England (with respect to the SRN) or Transport for London (with respect to the 
TRLN) and should have regard to any advice received, regarding impacts on the SRN or 
TRLN, before making its direction. The local authority should use best endeavours to consult 
as early possible, and no later than 24 hours, before a direction under Regulation 6 is made. 

Where a restriction, prohibition or requirement relates to Crown land under Regulation 8(1), 
the local authority is required to have an agreement with an appropriate authority before a 
direction can be made. The ‘appropriate authority’, will usually be someone with authority to 
give consent on behalf of the owner for example the Crown Estate Commissioners – the full 
list is given in Regulation 8(2). 

The local authority may not make a direction in relation to Crown land unless this agreement 
has been made. However, NHS Test and Trace will aim to support the local authority in 
putting in place an agreement quickly. Local authorities should liaise with the relevant NHS 
Test and Trace Local Support and Assurance Team in the first instance. If this is not 
possible they should email DirectionNotification@dhsc.gov.uk with the relevant details. 

Before giving a direction under this regulation, the local authority must take reasonable steps 
to give advance notice of the direction to a person carrying on a business from premises 

Page 15

Page 7 of 12

mailto:DirectionNotification@dhsc.gov.uk


within the public outdoor place to which the direction relates. It must also take reasonable 
steps to ensure that the direction is brought to the attention of anyone who owns, occupies 
or is responsible for any land or premises in a public outdoor place to which the direction 
relates. 

Notification of directions concerning public outdoor places 

Notice of the direction should be issued by a local authority in the form of a written letter 
and/or email communication, clearly stating: the powers under which the direction is being 
made; the reason for invoking or revoking the direction; the date and time on which the 
prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into effect; and the date and time on which it will 
end. 

Where the direction is made on the direction of the Secretary of State, that should be also be 
stated. The notification must also give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, 
provide an address for service of any summons (including the Secretary of State where it is 
based on his direction) and the time limit for appealing (see below). 

A local authority which has given a direction under regulation 6(1) must take reasonable 
steps to prevent or restrict public access to the public outdoor place or places to which the 
direction relates in accordance with the direction. 

People (other than the local authority) who own, occupy or are responsible for part of the 
public outdoor place must also take reasonable steps to prevent or restrict public access to 
the area in accordance with the direction. 

It will be important for the local authority to describe the area in sufficient detail when issuing 
a notice. A local authority must publish details of any restrictions on its website (see further 
details below), and should consider other measures to draw this to the attention of anyone 
who may be affected, including through notices at or near the area being closed, social 
media posts, press notices and notices on arterial roads where this seems appropriate. 

Once a direction is made, people will not be allowed to enter or remain in the area, subject to 
the terms of the direction, without a reasonable excuse. The regulations provide a non-
exhaustive list of reasonable excuses, which include that people may enter the land where it 
is reasonably necessary for work purposes. For the avoidance of doubt, we intend that this 
would include providers of freight and haulage services. Access also needs to be provided 
for utility companies carrying out essential maintenance and repair works and highway 
authorities carrying out road works. 

Although all possible uses of the power cannot be known at present, we would usually 
expect that the power would not be exercised so as to restrict social interaction between 
people living in the area and outside. We would usually expect directions to be drawn in 
such a way that visitors from outside the area, such as friends and family, would be able to 
visit people living within the area, unless the movement of people has been restricted within 
other regulations. We would not usually expect directions to prevent people from travelling 
within an area if the start and end of their journeys are outside it, for example long distance 
motorway journeys that pass through the area. 

Page 16

Page 8 of 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#appeal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#website


A direction relating to a public outdoor place should not be used as a means to indirectly 
control premises, should the closure of a public outdoor place restrict access to premises in 
the vicinity. If the closure of a public outdoor place is deemed to be a necessary and 
proportionate measure, consideration should also be given to restriction of access to 
premises that may be an indirect consequence of such action. Any closure of premises will 
need to be considered separately in accordance with Regulation 4, and should not be the 
indirect consequence of restricting access to a public outdoor place. 

The owner, occupier or person responsible for land or premises in a public outdoor place to 
which a direction relates may appeal against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way of 
complaint, and/ or make representations to the Secretary of State about the direction. Where 
direction is made, the owner, occupier or person responsible for land or premises must fulfil 
the term of the direction until the appeal is resolved. 

Requirements for local authority directions 

Public notice of directions 

When a local authority issues a direction under the Regulations to a person specified by 
name, or revokes such a direction, notification should be provided to that person in writing 
and the local authority should take reasonable steps to give advance notice of the direction. 
Notification of the direction should be issued by a local authority in the form of a written letter 
and/or email communication, clearly stating the reason for invoking, or revoking, the 
direction, the date and time on which the prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into 
effect, and the date and time on which they will end. 

Where the direction is made on the direction of the Secretary of State, that should be also be 
stated. The notification must also give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, 
provide an address for service of any summons (including the Secretary of State where it is 
based on his direction) and the time limit for appealing (see below). Where the direction is 
made on the direction of the Secretary of State, that should be also be stated. 

Where a restriction, prohibition or requirement will also impact upon other persons, the local 
authority should also publish in such a manner it considers appropriate, to bring it to the 
attention of those who may be affected by it. 

In any other case, where a direction is given by a local authority under the Regulations it 
must be published on the local authority’s website, and may be published in such other 
manner as the local authority considers appropriate to bring it to the attention of those who 
may be affected by the direction or the revocation. The format of such publication will no 
doubt vary, depending on the scale and impact of any prohibition, requirement or restriction, 
but may take the form of an email, social media post(s), press notice or notices on arterial 
roads where this seems reasonable and proportionate. 

Any direction given by a local authority under these Regulations must specify the power 
under which the direction is given. 

Page 17

Page 9 of 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020#appeal


Notification of directions to Secretary of State and other authorities 
When a local authority issues a direction, they should notify the Secretary of State as soon 
as possible after making a direction, and it is advised this should be no longer than 24 hours 
after issuing. This should be done via NHS Test and Trace, with notifications emailed 
to directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk, marked for the attention of the appropriate regional 
team. 

This should include a copy of the direction, the reason for issuing the direction, the location 
or area the direction relates to, the organisations and groups of people expected to be 
directly and indirectly affected by the direction, the stakeholders consulted on the decision 
on the direction (including NHS Test and Trace Regional Support and Assurance Teams, 
government departments and PHE), the date and time on which the restriction comes into 
effect, and the date and time on which it will end. 

Local authorities are encouraged to seek advice in advance of exercising powers under 
these Regulations, should they require any practical support, and may contact NHS Test and 
Trace at directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk. 

If a direction is issued by a local authority, it must notify any neighbouring authorities (i.e. 
any local authority whose area is adjacent to the initiating authority’s area) that may be 
impacted as a result of the direction. This should be proportionate to the direction taken, and 
may take the form of an email to neighbouring authorities summarising the direction and 
rationale if it relates to the closure of a small single premise, but may require much greater 
detail and coordination across local authorities if the direction applies to a large public 
outdoor place. 

To avoid an unnecessary ripple effect of direction, there is no obligation on the part of the 
local authority in receipt of the notification to in turn notify neighbouring authorities, unless 
there is a large outbreak across multiple areas, where this may be necessary and 
proportionate. However where a local authority has been notified it must consider, as soon 
as may be reasonably practicable, whether to exercise its own powers under these 
Regulations and must notify the initiating local authority of what it has decided to do. If a 
county council has been notified in respect of an area for which there is also a district 
council, it must notify the district council of the matter notified to it and of its own decision. 

Where this is the case, it may be necessary to coordinate action across a regional level and 
you should engage with neighbouring authorities through your Local Resilience Forum, or 
through other channels as appropriate. 

The Regulations also provide that if a county council has made a direction for an area for 
which there is also a district council, it must also notify the district council and if a London 
borough council has made the direction it must notify every other London borough council. 

Where the initiating authority’s area is adjacent to the area of a council in Scotland 
constituted under section 2 of the Local Government etc (Scotland) Act 1994 or a county or 
county borough council in Wales, it should notify that council. 

Following a direction being issued, local authorities should ensure a multi-agency approach, 
to limit the need to enforce under policing powers alone. 

Page 18

Page 10 of 12

mailto:directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk
mailto:directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk


Crown authorities 

Crown Authorities should be consulted in advance of any local authority powers being 
exercised to restrict access to Crown land in respect of Regulation 6. 

Members of the public 

Under the Regulations, the recipient of a local authority direction has two methods of 
recourse. 

Appeal 

The recipient of a direction has the right of appeal through the magistrates’ courts. Should 
they wish to appeal a direction, it should be lodged as soon as possible and, where possible, 
submitted within the 7-day review period. 

An appellant would need to be able to satisfy the court on the balance of probabilities that 
the decision made by the local authority was wrong – in that it did not satisfy the three 
conditions listed in the introduction section above – and bring forward any supplementary 
evidence to support the appeal. This may include reasons as to why the appellant deems the 
direction should not have been made, and why the local authority’s reasons for taking action 
do not meet the conditions as they are set out in Regulation 2(1). 

Where the direction was made on the direction of the Secretary of State, the appeal must be 
heard against both the Secretary of State and the local authority and the magistrates’ court 
must issues summonses against both of them. 

Making representations to the Secretary of State 
The recipient of a direction may make representations to the Secretary of State about the 
direction. This should be done via NHS Test and Trace, with representations emailed 
to directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk. This should include: 
• details about the recipient of the direction and how they have been impacted 
• demonstration of why the direction should not have been made and was not appropriate, 

based on the conditions set out in Regulation 2(1) 
• any supporting evidence 
• what action they would like to be taken as a result 

NHS Test and Trace will expedite the matter to the Secretary of State, before considering 
the evidence provided and respond as soon as is reasonably practicable. The Secretary of 
State will provide written reasons for his decisions to the person who made the 
representations and the local authority which gave the direction. If the Secretary of State 

Page 19

Page 11 of 12

mailto:directionnotification@dhsc.gov.uk


decides that the conditions for issuing a direction were not (or are no longer) met, they may 
direct the local authority to revoke the direction, or to replace it with a further direction that 
would satisfy the conditions. 

Enforcement of requirements 

Where a local authority designated officer or a police officer or PCSO reasonably believes 
that a person is in contravention of a prohibition, requirement or restriction as set out in the 
regulations, they may take such action as is necessary and proportionate to enforce a 
direction. 

A local authority designated officer may issue a prohibition notice to a person who 
contravenes a direction, for example by failing to close a premise that has had a direction 
placed upon it to restrict or prohibit access. 

Where the police consider that an event is being held in contravention of a direction, they 
may direct the event to stop, direct a person to leave the event, or remove a person from the 
event. 

Where the police consider that a person is, without reasonable excuse, in a public outdoor 
place that has been closed or where access has been restricted under a direction, they may 
direct that person to leave the place immediately and/ or remove the person from the place. 

Offences 

Where it is reasonably believed that a person aged 18 or over has committed an offence 
under these regulations, an authorised person – a local authority designated officer (in 
respect of breach of a direction relating to premises under regulation 4(1) or events under 
regulations 5(1), failure of an owner or occupier of land in a public outdoor space to which a 
direction under regulation 6 applies to take reasonable steps to restrict access to that land, 
or obstruction of a local authority officer) or a police officer or PCSO (in respect of 
obstruction of an officer, or failure to comply with a direction or reasonable instruction given 
by a policy officer or with a prohibition notice) – may issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN). If 
paid within 28 days beginning from the day after the date of the notice no proceedings may 
be taken in respect of the offence. 

The amount of the FPN will be £100 for a first offence (reduced to £50 if paid within 14 
days), doubling upon further offences up to a maximum of £3,200. When calculating the 
amount of the FPN, previous offences under these requirements, the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020, the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (Leicester) Regulations 2020, and the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (No.2) (England) Regulations 2020 will be taken into account. 

 

Page 20

Page 12 of 12



 

Proposed Decision to be made by the Leader on  
or after 31 July 2020 

 
Devolution and Local Recovery White Paper 

 
Portfolio Holder Leader of the Council   

Date of decision  
      31 July 2020 
 
Signed 
 

 
 
 

 
Decision  
 
That at the request of Cabinet, the Leader asks the Chief Executive to take such preparatory 
steps as she considers necessary in advance of the Devolution and Local Recovery White Paper, 
anticipated in the Autumn, to enable the Council to consider the options for future local 
government reform for Warwickshire 
 

 
 
1.0 Reasons for Decision 
 
1.1. The Government has announced its intention to publish a White Paper on Devolution and 

Local Recovery.  Exact timeframes are not yet known but the White Paper is expected in 
the early Autumn.   

 
1.2      Set against the anticipated longer term impact of Covid on a wide range of issues including 

the local economy, the health and social care system and local government finances, 
announcements around the Government’s White Paper are leading many Councils now to 
consider the options for local government reform and the role of devolution in our national 
recovery.   

 
1.3 This report asks the Chief Executive to undertake preparatory work in advance of the 

White Paper being published to enable the Council to consider the potential options for 
Warwickshire 

 
 
 

Page 21

Page 1 of 4 Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
2.0 Background information 
 
2.1       National commentary around the White Paper suggests that it is likely to be ambitious and 

far-reaching linked to recovery from Covid-19 and the Government’s agenda around 
levelling up of the economy and building stronger communities. There is also an emerging 
view that the White Paper will include proposals for local government structural reform 
linked to greater devolution of powers to local areas.  

 
2.2      To ensure that the Council is well prepared to respond to the White Paper, thought needs 

to be given as to what this could mean for Warwickshire, for our communities and 
businesses. The Council wants to be in a position to take the opportunities that it expects 
the White Paper to offer to create a better future for residents, communities and 
businesses that operate in Warwickshire.   

 
2.3      Other Councils in Warwickshire have already indicated a similar wish to review the 

potential implications of the White Paper, including devolution, local government reform 
and alternative ways of working, in advance of its publication in the Autumn.  

 
2.4      The Leaders of Warwick District Council and Stratford on Avon District Council issued a 

joint statement on 23 June 2020 (‘Taking a Fresh Look at Warwickshire’) setting out their 
intention to explore ways to work together for the benefit of the people of South 
Warwickshire and the wider County. The statement indicated that the Councils hoped this 
would pave the way for a wider dialogue with other local government partners with the 
view of forming a common position for debate with central government as the anticipated 
Devolution White Paper comes forward.  

 
2.5       Rugby Borough Council on 21 July 2020 considered a report recommending that work 

should commence now on undertaking a review of the local government structures within 
the County. The report proposed that the review be jointly commissioned by all of the 
districts and boroughs and the County Council as well as engaging with the Warwickshire 
Association of Local Councils (WALC), representing parish and town councils. 

 
2.6      The County Council recognises that there is a pressing need to consider the options and 

opportunities for Warwickshire in advance of the publication of the White Paper so that it 
can engage in the debate and seek to achieve the best possible future for the people of 
Warwickshire, including improving local decision-making whist at the same time being as 
efficient and effective as possible.    

 
2.7       With this in mind, the Council intends to consider whether there is a business case for a 

new single unitary Council for Warwickshire and also to identify possible alternative 
options. In doing so the Council will engage constructively with the County’s District and 
Borough Councils some of whom have indicated that they are also considering local 
government reform.   The Chief Executive has therefore been asked to look at all the 
potential options and undertake such preparatory work as is necessary to enable the 
Council to consider the options for future local government reform for Warwickshire in the 
Autumn.  

 
2.8      The preparatory work will be completed with a view to it being presented to full Council at 

an extraordinary meeting to be held in September 2020.  
 
 

 

Page 22

Page 2 of 4



 
 
 
Financial implications 
 
The cost of any commissioned work will be met from within existing budgets. 
 

 
 
 
Environmental implications 
 
None  
 

 
 
Report Author Sarah Duxbury – Assistant Director Governance & 

Policy  
 

Assistant Director Sarah Duxbury – Assistant Director Governance & 
Policy 

Lead Director Monica Fogarty – Chief Executive 
Lead Member Cllr Izzi Seccombe – Leader of the Council 

 
 
Urgent matter? No 
Confidential or exempt? No 
Is the decision contrary to the 
budget and policy 
framework? 

No 

 
 
List of background papers (If applicable)  
 
None 
 

 
 
Members and officers consulted and informed 
 
Corporate Board – Chief Executive, Strategic Director for Resources 
 
Legal – Assistant Director, Governance & Policy 
 
Finance – Assistant Director, Finance 
 
Democratic Services – Paul Williams 
 
Councillors – Group Leaders 
 

 
 

Page 23

Page 3 of 4



 
 

Page 24

Page 4 of 4


	Agenda
	1 Delegation of Coronavirus Powers - Leader Decision
	Coronavirus Delegations (Appendix)
	Introduction
	Local authority powers
	Closure of individual premises
	Notification of directions concerning premises
	Restrictions on events
	Notification of directions concerning events
	Guidance on the closure of a public outdoor place
	Notification of directions concerning public outdoor places

	Requirements for local authority directions
	Public notice of directions
	Notification of directions to Secretary of State and other authorities
	Crown authorities

	Members of the public
	Appeal
	Making representations to the Secretary of State

	Enforcement of requirements
	Offences



	2 Devolution and Local Recovery White Paper

